SID J. WHITE MAR 23 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No: 79,406

Third District Court Case No: 91-2002

HERNANDO RESTREPO, as surviving shareholder, officer, and director of SECURITY PLUS INSURANCE SERVICES, INC., F/K/A BLUE MOON INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.

Appellant,

V.

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Review of Decisions rendered from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District **as** Requiring Immediate Resolution

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Brief Synopsis of History/Trial level Ruling:

Appellant, Hernando Restrepo, was the surviving shareholder, officer, and director of the Security Plus Insurance Services, Inc., f/k/a Blue Moon Insurance Agency, Inc., a corporation authorized to do business in the State of Florida. Appellee, First Union National Bank of Florida became the successor in interest of Commercial Bank and Trust Company, the bank which maintained the Appellant's account, and are referred to conjunctively herein as Appellee.

On or about December 22, 1986, the Appellant through its officers established a commercial checking account with Appellee, in Miami, Dade County, Florida, and executed an account Agreement/Signature Card, which was required, and accepted, by the Appellee. In establishing the account, there was a requirement that the signatures of two (2) specific persons be present in order to negotiate drafts or otherwise debit the account for any amounts in excess of \$500.00. This requirement was expressly delineated on the signature card prepared and produced by Appellee.

On or about December 23, **1986**, and on multiple days thereafter during **1986**, 1987, **1988**, and **1989**, Appellee, paid out checks drawn on the account for amounts in excess of \$500.00 where there existed only one (1) signature, specifically with the second required signature MISSING, and further without authority and in complete contravention of Appellee and Appellant's express agreement. On or

=2=

about June 2, 1989 Appellant first discovered and initially spoke with, and personally appeared at Appellee Bank advising of the error. This was Appellant's first opportunity as Appellant was not a "day-to-day" operational partner, and did not customarily on a regular basis review bank statements, a fact as to which Appellee was intentionally and unequivocally advised. The Appellant's business being depleted, ceased doing business and this account discontinued transactions on or about June 21, 1989.

The instant lawsuit was commenced on September 13, 1990 with the filing of the complaint after Appellant had tried, unsuccessfully, to reconcile this matter with Appellee. Appellee moved to dismiss the complaint, and on March 1, 1991, an amended complaint was filed. The amended complaint alleged three separate causes of action as follows: Count I-breach of contract; Court IInegligence, and Court III-misrepresentation, and sought compensatory damages, punitive damages, and attorney's fees. Appellee moved to dismiss the amended complaint. On April 30, 1991 the Court entered its order dismissing all counts. The Order permitted the Appellant to file a second amended complaint only as to the breach of contract (Count I). On May 14, 1991 Appellee received Appellant's second amended complaint. Again, Appellee moved to Dismiss relying solely on F.S. §674,406(4) claiming that since Appellant's last "missing signature" check for over \$500.00 was issued on June 8, 1989 and this lawsuit was filed on September 13, 1990, subsection (4) of the above-mentioned statute precluded all recovery by Appellant. At hearing on Appellee's Motion on

-3-

June 24, 1991 the Court rejected argument by Appellant that F.S. \$674.406 was not applicable to "missing signatures" as this statement expressly refers to "unauthorized signature or alteration". Further, and/or alternatively, even after accepting proffered testimony that Appellant notified Appellee on or about June 2, 1989, the Court granted Appellee's Motion (with prejudice) deeming that the Customer's (Appellant) duty to "discover and report" (Subsection 4) unauthorized signatures or alterations within one (1) year from the time the bank statements are made available to customer, that this "duty" meant Customer (Appellant) must FILE SUIT, as Appellants alternate argument was that even if the Statute applies, Appellant discovered and reported on June 2, 1989 and should be entitle to claim restitution for checks cashed up to one (1) year Prior to this notice. This was pursuant to Order dated June 28, 1991.

## B. <u>Brief Synopsis of History at the Third District Court of</u> <u>Appeal level</u>:

As indicated the Trial Court Order dismissing with prejudice was signed June 28, 1991. Appellant on Friday July 26, 1991, within the 30 day period for filing, submitted his ORIGINAL Notice of Appeal to be hand-delivered by Zap Courier Services, Inc. A COPY of the Notice of Appeal was prepared and mailed to opposing counsel and the Third District Court of Appeal on July 26, 1991 as well. The case was styled listing the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida. The courier, however, was inadvertently told to deliver the ORIGINAL Notice to

-4-

the Third District Court of Appeal while COPIES were simultaneously mailed to opposing counsel and to the Circuit Court. The Notice of Appeal was received on Friday, July 26, 1991 by the Third District Court of Appeal and clocked in on July 26, 1991. The Appellant first officially received Notice on August 20, 1991 from the Third District Court of Appeal that the ORIGINAL AND COPY of the Notice of Appeal had been misdelivered (in traverse) and that the Notice of Appeal reflected the lower tribunal filing date of August 1, 1991, despite a courier receipt dated July 26, 1991 (R 1). On August 21, 1991 the Third District Court of Appeal ordered that counsel for the Appellant show cause within ten (10) days why the appeal should not be dismissed as untimely filed. (R3). Appellant timely filed his Response to Request for, and Showing of Good Cause on the very date of receiving the same.  $(\mathbf{R} 4-7)$ . Again, Counsel for Appellee received a copy of the Response. At no time did Counsel for Appellee elect to respond to the same despite being given adequate and complete opportunity to do so.

Thereafter, on September 5, 1991 the clerk entered an Order indicating that the Appeal shall remain open and pending apparently finding good cause existing.(R 8) Appellant filed their Brief timely on October 3, 1991 with Appellee filing no Answer Brief nor an extension for the same. On October 25, 1991 Appellant filed aMotion to Dismiss. (R 9-15). Appellant timely filed his Response to the Motion to Dismiss incorporating a memorandum of supportive law. (R 16-26). Notwithstanding, Appellant's position that Appellee's moving to dismiss was untimely in that they had been

-5-

afforded prior opportunity to respond to this issue, however, elected not to do so until two (2) months AFTER the Third District Court of Appeal ruled on the issue, despite Appellee's knowledge, awareness, and voluntary election not to file any response, Appellant still feels the Notice requirements have been met considering the supportive Memorandum.

On January 2, 1992 the Third District Court of Appeal dismissed the Appellant's Appeal and certified <sup>it</sup> to this Honorable Court as a question of great public importance (R 37-38) (A 1-2). Additionally, Appellant filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida (A 3). Whereupon, the Clerk of the Supreme Court entered an Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule on February 26, 1992. (A 4).

### V. ISSUES ON SUPREME COURT REVIEW

A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DEPARTED FROM ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW WHEN IT DISMISSED FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT WHERE THE APPELLANT INADVERTENTLY, YET TIMELY FILES THE ORIGINAL NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT, (RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT), AND MAILS OPPOSING COUNSEL AND THE CIRCUIT COURT A COPY.

B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE ACTION FINDING THE APPELLANT TOOK NO CORRECTIVE ACTION TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE RENDITION OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT.

### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. Upon a complete review of the record presented on Appeal, the District Court's failure to entertain an appeal from a final judgment of a Circuit Court where the Appellant inadvertently, yet TIMELY, files the Original Notice of Appeal with the District Court, rather than the Circuit Court, and mails a copy to the Circuit Court and opposing counsel, but timely performs all obligations under the Rules by properly styling the case, timely filing the Notice of Appeal, timely giving notice to Appellee and the Circuit Court, timely submitting his Brief on the appeal, and timely responding to Appellee's Motions, is clear abuse and unsupported by the facts and evidence presented.

Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure require the filing of the Notice of Appeal within 30 days rendition of the Order to be reviewed with the Clerk of the lower tribunal. Appellant, aware that the last day for which he could file his Notice of Appeal was Monday July 29, 1991, executed and placed in the custody of a Zap Couriers on Friday, July 26, 1991, his Notice of Appeal to be hand delivered. Additionally, the Third District Court of Appeals maintains its' own court courier system that runs deliveries to the other court every Wednesday and Friday from 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m. in the afternoon, and therefore Appellant's Original Notice could have been received by the Circuit Court in time and only missed such courier by approximately three hours. The District Court aware that the Appellant improvidently filed his Original notice of Appeal in the wrong court, should have transferred the notice

-8-

immediately to the Circuit court, as the Committee Notes of Appellate Rule 9.040 requires, and treat the notice as though it had been filed in the court to which the transfer was made.

Florida Case law, as well as Florida Rules of Appellant Procedure, as delineated hereinafter, tend to support Appellant under the specific facts of Appellant's case as recited heretofore.

Additionally, by way of persuasion the Federal Rules have been incorporated by Florida, and cases under those rules support Appellant's argument that a party should not automatically have his case dismissed because an improper remedy is sought or the jurisdiction of the wrong court is invoked. The court must consider several factors in determining whether the inadvertent misdirection of the notice was due to the lack of diligence of counsel to comply with the rules or whether the inadvertence was the result of an unforseen event for which counsel has no control. Factors to consider are: 1) Whether counsel attempted to comply with the rules 2) Whether counsel was attempting to evade compliance under the rules 3) Whether counsel could readily foresee any consequences and prepare for them, 4) Whether counsel was diligent in his efforts to comply, and 5) Whether despite counsel's efforts the inadvertence resulted.

**B.** Appellant unequivocally timely file his Original Notice of Appeal in the District Court, and timely "mailed" a copy to the Lower Tribunal and to opposing counsel. The purpose of filing the Notice of Appeal in the Trial Court is intended chiefly as a means of convenience for the parties. In the present case, Appellee has

-9-

been aware of all activity in this file, and, they have not been in any way prejudiced or precluded from filing any kind of responsive pleading, yet Appellee has filed no Answer brief nor extensions to file the same, and did not elect to move to dismiss until AFTER the District Court ruled that the Appeal would remain open, despite having prior notice and opportunity to respond or assert any position prior to such ruling.

Substantial case law supports the position that the Court should consider factors such as inadvertence, good faith, amount of prejudice or lack there of, and whether attempts at substantial compliance were made.

When, as here, the Appellant has performed all that was required by him by putting all parties on Notice within the prescribed time period, and only an inadvertent hand-delivery of Original was made, any attempt to utilize the time restriction as a basis in this case to dismiss this cause of action would work to such a great detriment, hardship, and forfeiture that the true intent behind the issue of timely filing of appeals would be defeated. The purpose for the thirty day time limit in which to **file** a Notice of Appeal was to create some finality in which all parties concerned could know when to move on. The rule was intended to punish those individuals who sat back on their rights and made no attempt to assert their rights.

Here, the parties were fairly advised that Appellant intended to assert appellate rights.

-10-

#### VII. ARGLIMENT

A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DEPARTED FROM ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW WHEN IT DISMISSED FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF **A** CIRCUIT COURT WHERE THE APPELLANT INADVERTENTLY, YET TIMELY FILES THE ORIGINAL NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT, (RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT), AND MAILS OPPOSING COUNSEL AND THE CIRCUIT COURT A COPY.

Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.110(b) states that the jurisdiction of the court shall be invoked by filing the notice of Appeal with the Clerk of the lower tribunal within thirty days of rendition of the Order to be reviewed. However, in interpreting the intent of the Rule, the Committee Notes state that a **"Failure** to file any notice within the 30 day period constituted an irremediable jurisdiction defect,,," In light of the language under the Committee notes of the Rule, jurisdiction will be defeated if no notice is filed at all. In the present case, a notice was filed within the jurisdictional time limits. The Rule only requires that **"any"** notice be filed. The idea behind this Rule is to give notice to the Court and other parties that action is being taken on the case. The requirement that the notice be filed with the lower Court is only for the convenience of the Courts in order to transfer the records more effectively.

In conjunction, Fla. R. App. P. 9.040 sets forth several miscellaneous matters of general applicability. Under Rule 9.040(b), "[i]f a proceeding is commenced in an inappropriate Court, that Court shall transfer the cause to the appropriate Court," and "upon filing of a notice...the clerk shall forthwith

-11-

transmit the fee and a certified copy of the notice, showing the date of filing, to the Court." Fla. R. App. P 9.040(g). Further, when considered with the committees notes, Rule 9.040 invokes the idea that..."a party will not automatically have his case dismissed because he seeks an improper remedy OR INVOKES THE JURISDICTION OF THE WRONG COURT...ALL FILINGS IN THE CASE [SHALL] HAVE THE SAME LEGAL EFFECT AS THOUGH ORIGINALLY FILED IN THE COURT TO WHICH TRANSFER IS MADE." (emphasis added). The Rule requires that the "Clerk MUST transmit the notice and fees IMMEDIATELY," and replaces the former Rule which allowed the notice to be transferred within five days. The Rule was amended as the Advisory Committee "was of the view that no reason existed for any delays [in transferring documents]." Taking this view and applying it to the present case, the Clerk of the District Court received Appellant's original Notice of Appeal on Friday, July 26, 1991, well within the Monday, July 29, 1991 time for filing. As Fla. R. App. P. 9.420 states, "if the last day of the period so computed falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, those days shall be excluded in the The Clerk of the Third District was aware upon computation." receipt of the notice on July 26, 1991 that the original was filed in the wrong court. Construing the Rule(s) in a light of the facts and circumstances, the District Court had received and accepted the original Notice of Appeal with them, and even had counsel being able to gain control of the original Notice of Appeal on July 29, 1991, and refile in the Circuit Court the same day, the fact remains that the original Notice of Appeal WAS filed in the Third

-12-

District Court of Appeal timely. Therefore, the control shifted to the Clerk to make the proper transmittal to the Circuit Court upon receiving notice of the misprision in place of filing. The District Court first officially notified Appellant on August 19, 1991 that the notice was filed in the wrong court, some twenty-five days later. This Honorable Court has the power under Fla. Const. Art. V. §2(a) to interpret the legislative intent behind the rules and "...[s]hall adopt rules for the practice procedure in all courts including...the [ability to] transfer to the Court having jurisdiction of any proceeding when the jurisdiction of another Court has been improvidently invoked. ... The term "improvidently" has been defined as "lacking foresight," WEBSTER'S NEW WORLD DICTIONARY 304. Clearly as shown by the facts in the present case, the Appellant clearly lacked the foresight to see that even by properly styling the case, properly drawing up his notice, and placing it in the hands of the courier well within the time for filing, that the courier would be misdirected through human error.

Once the District Court and had both possession of the notice and inherent knowledge as to the last date that filing could be effectuated, the Committee Notes of Fla. R. App. P. 9.040 require that the transmittal of such notice should be done "immediately", furthermore, the Third District Court of Appeal utilizes its own courier system every Wednesday and Friday, which would support the Appellant's argument that since the Appellant's Notice was received on a Friday, it should have/could have been delivered to the Circuit Court on that Friday, instead of being clocked in at the

-13-

Circuit Court on August 1, 1991, **six** days later. The Committee Notes of 9.040 are clear on the fact that delays [in transference], were to be eliminated.

In Appellee's Motion to Dismiss, the Appellee relied up on the case of Lampkin-Asam v. Dist. Ct. of Appeal, 364 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1978) which ruling was also followed in <u>Skinner v. Skinner</u> 541 So 2d 176 (Fla. 4 DCA 1989). However, in the case of <u>Skinner V.</u> Skinner, hereinafter referred to as <u>Skinner I</u>, the first change to alleviate the harshness of Rule 9.110(b) began to take effect. The majority of the Court found that it did not have jurisdiction to consider a Petition for Certiorari which was filed in the District Court to review a non-final order, (albeit reviewable by appeal), where no Notice of Appeal was filed in the trial court, Id. at 176, the Honorable Harry Lee Anstead in Skinner I, id., dissenting from the majority opinion found that

> ... the timely filing of an application for [the District Court] certiorari in was sufficient to invoke appellate jurisdiction. [Furthermore], IT MAKES LITTLE SENSE TO ... HOLD THAT THE FILING OF A JURISDICTIONAL PLEADING DIRECTLY IN [THE DISTRICT COURT] IS INSUFFICIENT TO INVOKE (THE) COURT'S JURISDICTION, [AS] THE RULES PROVIDE FOR THE FILING OF THE JURISDICTIONAL DOCUMENT IN THE TRIAL COURT CHIEFLY AS A MEANS OF CONVENIENCE FOR THE PARTIES AND THE TRIAL COURT. THE NOTICE FILED IN THE TRIAL COURT IS, OF COURSE, IMMEDIATELY TRANSFERRED TO [THE DISTRICT COURT] BY THE CLERK OF THE TRIAL COURT," id. at 176. (emphasis added).

> > -14-

This **"dissent** is significant because it became the majority in subsequent review of Skinner I leading to Skinner v. Skinner, 561 So. 260 (Fla. 1990), (the current law) as hereinafter cited as <u>Skinner II</u>.

The facts in the Skinner I, supra, case differ from the present case as Appellant has appealed from a final order and mailed a copy of his notice to the circuit Court and to opposing counsel, differences only favorable to Appellant. Thus the Circuit Court had two notices filed with them, the transferred original and the copy that was mailed. Even though the majority of the Court decided that it did not have jurisdiction entertain the case, they certified the question to this Honorable Court.

In Skinner 11, supra, this Honorable Court revisited the Skinner I case and obviously agreed with the dissenting view in the District Court case. There, the Petitioner argued, and this Honorable Court agreed that "no substantive reason exists for having to file a piece of paper with the Clerk of the Circuit Court which will automatically be forwarded to the District Court, especially when the reverse circumstance, District Courts accepting notice of appeals filed in the Circuit Court...has long been exercised." Id. at 261.

In the present case, and under the above rationale, it is only as matter of convenience that the Notice of Appeal be filed in the lower court. The fact that the Appellant timely filed his Original Notice of Appeal in the District Court, supports this Honorable Court's view that "once the District Court's jurisdiction has been

-15-

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