IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,406

District Court of Appeal, Third District, No. 91-02002

Circuit Court, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, No. 90-45527

HERNANDO RESTREPO,

Petitioner,

-75-

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK OF FLORIDA, etc.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

1

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO FLA.R.APP.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)

> SHUTTS & BOWEN 1500 Miami Center 201 S. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-6300

Karen H. Curtis, P.A. Florida Bar No. 257923

Attorneys for Respondent

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

2/ This section states:

(g) Clerk's Duties. <u>Upon</u> filins of a notice prescribed by these rules. <u>The clerk shall forthwith</u> transmit the fee and a certified COPY of the notice, date to the court. the of filina, When sh<u>owing</u> jurisdiction has been invoked pursuant to Rule **9.030(a)(2)(A)(v);** (a)(2)(A)(vi); or when **a** certificate has been issued by a district court pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(B) the clerk of the district court of appeal shall transmit copies of the certificate and decision or order and any suggestion, replies or appendices with the certified copy of the notice. Notices to review final orders of county and circuit courts in civil cases shall be recorded.

lower court, there was never any filing of **this** notice **as** prescribed in the Rules. The Rule pertains, moreover, to the <u>of the clerk of the lower court</u> to transmit the notice and filing fees to the appellate court:

> Section (g) is derived from former Rules 3,2(a) and **(e)**. Under these **rules**, <u>notices and fees are filed in the lower</u> <u>tribunal</u> unless specifically stated otherwise. <u>The clerk must transmit the notice</u> <u>and fees immediately</u>.

Committee Notes to Rule 9.040 (1977 Revision). There is no converse duty on the clerk of the appellate court to "transmit" a notice to the lower tribunal, for the plain reason that the notice is not supposed to be, if properly filed, in the hands of the appellate clerk's office in the first instance.

Rule 9.040(g) imposes a simple ministerial duty on the lower court's clerk to communicate to the appellate court the fact that the latter's jurisdiction has been properly invoked. The clerk is thus a mere conduit of information. Restrepo's reasoning would impermissibly expand the Rule to make the clerk the actor whose conduct actually creates appellate jurisdiction. The clerk should not be forced into the role of appellant of last resort, charged with ascertaining and correcting any defect in a notice of appeal not otherwise properly filed by the appellant himself.

> 4. Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution is not applicable to the misfiling in the appellate court of a notice of appeal required by the Rules to be filed in the lower tribunal,

a. The transfer provision applies only where the party seeks review in a wrong appellate court whose jurisdiction is "improvidently invoked,'

Restrepo argues, lastly, that this Court is required under Art. V, § 2(a) of the Florida Constitution^{10/} to "adopt rules for the practice procedure [sic] in all courts including ... the [ability to] transfer to the Court having iurisdiction of any proceeding when the jurisdiction of another Court has been improvidently invoked ...," (IB 13). This is not **a** case within that section's intendment, however.

Restrepo's misfiling of the notice of appeal in the district court did not thereby "improvidently invoke" the jurisdiction of a wrong court. Restrepo knew the correct court which had jurisdiction of his appeal, correctly prepared his notice of appeal in an effort to invoke that court's jurisdiction, and knew the correct court for the filing of the notice (IB 8,11,13). He therefore did not invoke the jurisdiction of a court lacking jurisdiction; he merely filed his **papers** in the wrong place.

10/ That section provides:

§ 2. Administration; practice and procedure

(a) The supreme court shall adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts including the time for seeking appellate review, the administrative supervision of all courts, the transfer to the court having furisdiction of any proceeding when the jurisdiction of another Court has been improvidently invoked, and a requirement that no cause shall be dismissed because an improper remedy has been sought. These rules may be repealed by general law enacted by two-thirds vote of the membership of each house of the legislature.

The transfer language of the Constitution has to do with an entirely different type of error than committed by Restrepo. Art. V, § 2(a) (and the Rule promulgated thereunder for transfer), this Court has held, was designed "to permit the transfer of cases where the appeal is taken to the wrong appellate court." Southeast First National Bank, 357 So.2d at 717. Examples of what constitutes an appeal to the "wrong appellate court" include death sentences appealed to the district court instead of the Supreme Court, or life imprisonment sentences appealed to the Supreme Court rather than the district court. Id. at 717. It is in those kinds of situations that "the jurisdiction of the wrong court has been invoked" and the Rule and Art. V, § 2(a) of the Constitution provide for transfer. Id, at 717.

<u>Southeast First National Bank</u> expressly held the transfer wording of the Constitution inapplicable to the instant circumstance -- the filing of a notice of appeal in the appellate, rather than the lower, court. 357 So.2d at 717. The rationale for inclusion of the transfer terminology also negates any argument that this Rule can be interpreted as Restrepo would have it:

> The necessity for [the transfer] rule was the result of the creation of the District Courts of Appeal in Revised Article V of the Florida Constitution in 1957, and the proscribed jurisdiction of the courts of the appellate system.

Id. at 717-18. The transfer section was thus intended to address the newly created intermediate appellate courts. Id.

-22-

at 717-18. The Diamond Berk court, well aware of this purpose and writing shortly after the constitutional amendment, <u>id</u>. **at** 718, pointedly noted, however, that the requirement of filing a notice of appeal in the lower court predated the constitutional and rule changes and was "nothing new or novel." Diamond Berk, 102 §0.2d at 131.

In summary, there is nothing in the transfer remedy of Art. V, § 2(a) to aid an appellant who files his notice of appeal in the appellate court, as opposed to filing it properly in the lower tribunal whose order he seeks to appeal.

b. The improper remedy provision applies only where the party seeks review by a wrong appellate remedy.

In addition to providing for transfer to the court having jurisdiction when the jurisdiction of one lacking jurisdiction is erroneously invoked, Art. V, § 2(a) contains another palliative for appellate mistakes. It directs that the Rules contain "a requirement that no cause shall be dismissed because an <u>improper remedy</u> has been sought." <u>See</u> n. 10, p. 21, <u>supra</u> for the full text of this section. The Rule promulgated thereunder, Rule 9.040(c), entitled "Remedy," thus states:

(c) Remedy. If **a** party seeks an <u>improper</u> remedy, the cause shall be treated **as** if the proper remedy had been sought; provided that it shall not be the responsibility of the court to seek the **proper** remedy.

Again, however, the "improper remedy" provisions have been invoked by the courts to cure **a** different type of error than here presented -- the filing of an appeal when a writ of certiorari is the **proper** remedy, **and** vice versa. For example, in <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 306 \$0,2d 102 (Fla. 1974), this Court held in a criminal case that where the State should have sought review by notice of appeal but "misconceived its remedy" and filed instead a petition for writ of certiorari, the district court should not have dismissed the petition but treated it as a notice of appeal and reviewed it on the merits. Id. at 103. As the Court explained:

> The salutary purpose of the constitutional provision is to insure that improper or misconceived remedies which have been sought will not justify dismissal of **causes** or reviews where **a** proper remedy oK review procedure is available, provided the relief sought was timely brought.

Id. at 103.

More recently, by using the Constitution and Rules 9.040(b) and (c), this Court employed analogous reasoning in a civil case. Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 537 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1989), involved a notice of appeal timely filed in the circuit court when review should have been sought by certiorari because the order was nonappealable. Id. at 97. This Court agreed with the parties seeking review that the "timely filing of a notice of appeal with the circuit court clerk is legally effective to vest jurisdiction in the district court" under Art. V, § $2\langle a \rangle$ of the Constitution. Id. at 97. Noting further that there was "no question that an appellate court has jurisdiction to review a cause even though the form of appellate relief is mischaracterized," id. at 97, and that jurisdiction, once invoked, could not "be divested ... by a hindsight determination that the wrong remedy was sought," id. at 98, this Court held that the district court was constitutionally prohibited from "dismissing as untimely a timely notice of appeal filed with the clerk of the circuit **court**, which should be considered **as** a petition for writ of certiorari." <u>Id</u>. at **98**.

The same result on converse facts was later reached in <u>Skinner</u> \underline{v} , Skinner, 561 §0.2d **260** (Fla. 1990). There the party seeking review had mistakenly filed a petition for certiorari in the district court when he should have filed **a** notice of appeal in the circuit court. **Id**. at 261. In reliance upon Art. **V**, **§** 2(a) and sections (b) and (c) of Rule 9.040, this Court followed Johnson to hold that **"a** district court of appeal has jurisdiction to consider the appropriate remedy in a case even when **a** petition for certiorari is filed therein to review a non-final order for which no notice of appeal was filed in the trial court." **Id. at** 262. This Court reasoned:

We find no distinguishable difference between [Johnson's] scenario and allowing a petition for certiorari filed in the district court to confer jurisdiction on that appellate court in order to consider the appropriate remedy. We believe that <u>once</u> the <u>district court's jurisdiction</u> has been <u>invoked</u>, it cannot be divested of jurisdiction by <u>a</u> hindsight determination that the wrong remedy was sought by <u>a</u> notice or petition filed in the wrong place.

<u>Id</u>, at 262.

Although both <u>Johnson</u>, **537** So.2d at **98**, and Skinner, 561 So.2d at 262, expressly recede from <u>Southeast</u> First <u>National Bank</u> and <u>Lampkin-Asam</u> to the extent of any conflict, neither of the newer cases compels **a** different result here, where there is no question of improper remedy, but merely **a** failure to file papers which seek the correct remedy in the place necessary under the Rules and **cases** to confer appellate jurisdiction.

The appropriate reading of <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Skinner</u> in relation to this circumstance is set forth in <u>Alfonso</u>, **588** So.2d at 1066. After noting that this Court receded from <u>Lampkin-Asam</u> in two situations -- permitting a notice of appeal to be treated as **a** petition for certiorari (<u>Johnson</u>) and a petition for certiorari to be treated **as a** notice of appeal (<u>Skinner</u>) -- the Third District noted that the actual holding of <u>Lampkin-Asam</u> **as** to the place for filing a notice of appeal has never been overruled.

The First District has explored this issue in more depth, concluding, after review of all the cases, that "the law has **not** changed concerning the timely filing of the notice of appeal <u>in the proper court</u>." <u>Beeks</u>, **569** So.2d **at** 1346 (emphasis in original). In that court's view, the dispositive question was whether the court's jurisdiction had initially been invoked by whatever was filed. If it had, then the court could proceed, despite the fact that the remedy was incorrect. If jurisdiction had not been invoked in the first instance, however, the court could **go** no further.

In <u>Johnson</u>, "the timely filing of the notice of appeal in the circuit court invoked the jurisdiction of [the appellate] court to consider the proper remedy, i.e., a petition for writ of certiorari, thus dismissal was improper," <u>Beeks</u>, 569 So.2d at 1347.

-26-
Likewise, in <u>Skinner</u>, "the petition [for writ of certiorari] should not have been dismissed because the petition invoked the jurisdiction of the court to consider the proper remedy, i.e., appeal of a non-final order." <u>Beeks</u>, 569 So.2d at 1347.

The First District found this common rationale in both:

	both						
<u>document</u>							
even was							
court's							
diction	having	been	invo	keđ,	the	court	could
then consider the proper remedy.							

Id, at 1347.

Such is not the case -- no jurisdiction is invoked -where the notice of appeal is not timely filed in the circuit court:

> In this case, the notice of appeal which appellant filed in this court did not invoke the jurisdiction of this court. <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Skinner</u> **do** not apply. The notice of appeal filed in the circuit court was not timely and did not invoke the jurisdiction of this court.

> A timely notice of appeal having not been filed in the proper court, this appeal is hereby dismissed.

<u>Id</u>. at 1347.

<u>Beeks</u>, analysis is persuasive. <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Skinner</u> should not be expanded to overrule <u>Lampkin-Asam</u> where the court lacks jurisdiction at the threshold because the notice of appeal is not timely filed in the lower court but instead in the appellate court.

- 11. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE PETITIONER'S INVITATION TO DEPART FROM EXISTING LAW LANGUAGE EXPLICIT AND THE OF RULE 9.110(b) BY PERMITTIBG THE FILING OF A APPEAL NOTICE OF IN THE APPELLATE COURT, RATHER THAN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL
- A. This case, unlike those petitioner cites, does not involve either a "wrong remedy" under Rule 9.040(c) or a "wrong appellate court" under Rule 9.040(b).

The heart of Restrepo's argument is its reliance on **cases** wholly dissimilar from this one. These are "wrong remedy" cases authorizing **a** petition for writ of certiorari and **a notice of appeal to be treated as fungible once jurisdiction** is properly invoked (pp. 23-27, <u>supra</u>), and "wrong appellate court" cases where transfer is authorized to the court having jurisdiction (pp. 21-23, <u>supra</u>). The distinctions between those **cases** and this one, although nowhere acknowledged by Restrepo, are outcome-determinative here.

In addition to skinner (IB 14-16), Restrepo cites one other "wrong remedy" certiorari/appeal case (IB 16) and two other "wrong appellate court" cases (IB 16-17).

The first "wrong remedy" case, <u>In re Estate of Laflin</u>, 569 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1990), merely extended <u>Skinner</u>'s rule to encompass final, as well as non-final, orders. A petition for certiorari, instead of the proper notice of appeal, had been filed, and this Court held that that petition should not have been dismissed "for lack of jurisdiction simply because petitioner failed to seek the <u>appropriate remedy</u> for appellate review." 569 So.2d at 1274.

-28-

Restrepo incorrectly states that in <u>Laflin</u>, a <u>notice</u> of <u>appeal</u> was filed in the appellate court, when it should have been filed in the court below (IB 16). If that were true, and this Court had then found jurisdiction nonetheless to exist, Restrepo's appeal should not have been dismissed either. <u>Laflin</u> is clearly a "wrong remedy" case, however, which for that **reason** offers no comfort to Restrepo here.

The other two cases **are** "wrong appellate court" cases where the party seeking review improvidently invoked the jurisdiction of a wrong court and should have had his case transferred to the court which had jurisdiction, under Rule 9.040(b) **or** its predecessor, rather than dismissed,

In <u>Sternfield v. Jewish Introductions, Inc.</u>, 581 So.2d 987, 988 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), the petition for writ of certiorari sought to invoke the certiorari jurisdiction of the district court, but was captioned and filed in the circuit court. The circuit court dismissed the petition, when, it was held, it should have transferred the case to the district court. Id. at 988.

In <u>In re Estate of Grant</u>; **117 So.2d 865, 866 (Fla. 2d** DCA 1960) (upon which <u>Sternfield</u> relied), an appeal from **a** probate court order was erroneously taken to the circuit court instead of the district court of appeal where **it** should **have** gone. Under Rule **2.1(a)(5)(d)**, the forerunner to Rule 9.040(b)'s transfer provisions, the circuit court should have transferred the appeal to the district court, rather than dismissing it. <u>Id</u>. at **866**. Again, however, the basis for

-29-

decision was that this appeal was one "improvidently taken" to **the** wrong appellate court. That is fundamentally not the **case** here.

B. The cited federal rules and federal case are both inapplicable and distinguishable from the instant case.

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